FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 FEB 26 PM 1:57

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY _____
DEPUTY

Court of Appeals No. 48083-2-II

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

MICHAEL L. ROESCH,
Appellant,

v.

CARL BOHM and CANDY BOHM,
Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT MICHAEL ROESCH

By:

Christopher M. Constantine, WSBA, No. 11650
Of Counsel, Inc., P. S.
Of Attorneys for Appellant Michael L. Roesch
P. O. Box 7125
Tacoma, WA 98417-0125
(253) 752-7850

Kenyon E. Luce, WSBA No. 3081
LUCE & ASSOCIATES, P.S.
Of Attorneys for Appellant, Michael L. Roesch
4505 Pacific Highway East, Suite A
Tacoma, WA 98424
(253) 922-8724

I.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In a residential unlawful detainer, after dismissing Respondents' counterclaims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction by admitting at trial evidence Respondents had proposed for their dismissed counterclaims.
2. The trial court, by admitting evidence Respondents had proposed for their dismissed counterclaims, exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction by allowing Respondents to litigate at trial a general civil claim against Appellant's brother in a residential unlawful detainer.
3. The trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction in a residential unlawful detainer by allowing Respondents to litigate at trial their claim of title to the property at issue in this case.
4. The trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction in a residential unlawful detainer by admitting into evidence at trial failed, time-barred purchase and sale agreements and addenda between Respondents and Appellant's brother and between Respondents' parents and Appellant's brother involving parcels of real property other than the property at issue in this case.
5. The trial court erred in denying in part Appellant's motion in limine.

6. The trial court exceeded its jurisdiction by instructing the jury on Respondents' claim of title to 14712 60th St. E.
7. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for judgment pursuant to CR 50 (a).
8. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for judgment pursuant to CR 50 (b).
9. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for new trial or reconsideration.
10. The trial court erred in awarding attorney fees to Respondents.
11. In the event he prevails on appeal in this case, Appellant is entitled to an award of attorney fees incurred on appeal.

IV. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction by admitting at trial evidence Respondents had proposed for their dismissed counterclaims. (Pertains to Assignments of Error Nos. 1-10).
2. The trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction by allowing Respondents to litigate at trial a general civil claim against Appellant's brother in a residential unlawful detainer. (Pertains to Assignments of Error Nos. 1-10).
3. The trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction by allowing Respondents to litigate at trial their claim of title to the property at issue in this case. (Pertains to Assignments of Error Nos. 1-10).
4. The trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction in a residential unlawful detainer by admitting into evidence at trial failed, time-barred purchase and sale agreements and addenda between Respondents and Appellant's brother and between Respondents' parents and Appellant's brother involving parcels of real property other than the property at issue in this case. (Pertains to Assignments of Error Nos. 1-10).
5. The trial court erred in awarding attorney fees to Respondents
6. Appellant is entitled to an award of attorney fees on appeal in the event he prevails. (Pertains to Assignment of Error No. 11).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTS

Appellant Michael L. Roesch is the owner of the real property located at 14712 72nd Street East, Sumner, Washington.¹

In October, 2008, Appellant and Respondents executed a lease of Appellant's real property.² The lease term commenced November 1, 2008 and terminated on October 15, 2010.³ In paragraph 4 of the lease, Respondents agreed to pay Appellant monthly rent in the amount of \$802.75.⁴

Respondents entered into possession of Respondents' property in November, 2009.⁵ Respondents failed to pay the rent due under the lease, and on March 5, 2015, Appellant served Respondents with a three-day notice to terminate tenancy, alleging delinquent rent for the months of October 2012 to February, 2015, in the amount of \$22,447.00, late fees for that period totaling \$2,247.56, and attorney fees of \$5,381.10, for a total of \$30,105.66.⁶

¹ CP 1.

² CP 2, 6, 7, 8.

³ CP 6.

⁴ CP 6.

⁵ RP ____.

⁶ CP 2, 10, 11, 12.

Respondents did not thereafter either vacate the property or pay the sums set forth in the three-day notice.⁷

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Appellant filed a complaint for unlawful detainer in this action on April 1, 2015.⁸ Appellant filed a summons on April 1, 2015 and an amended summons on April 15, 2015.⁹ Appellant served Respondent Candy Bohm with summons and complaint on April 13, 2015.¹⁰ Respondents filed an answer on April 17, 2015.¹¹ Appellant filed a motion for order to show cause why a writ of restitution should not issue on May 7, 2015.¹²

Respondents filed an amended answer, affirmative defenses and counterclaims on May 27, 2015.¹³ Respondents' counterclaims alleged Respondent Candy Bohm had been and continues to be the owner and occupant of Appellant's property at 14712 72nd St. East, Sumner, Washington.¹⁴ Respondents alleged claims against Appellant's brother, Fred Roesch, alleging that Fred Roesch had approached Respondents and the parents of Respondents Candy Bohm, Geraldine and Hillard Rudolph,

⁷ CP 2.

⁸ CP 1-12.

⁹ CP 13-14, 16-17.

¹⁰ CP 81.

¹¹ CP 21-24.

¹² CP 29-31.

¹³ CP 35-44.

¹⁴ CP 37.

for the purpose of entering into a complex real estate transaction involving the Rudolphs' property at 16224 60th St. East, Sumner, Washington, Respondents Bohms' property at 16220 60th St. East, and Appellant's property at 14712 72nd St. East in Sumner.¹⁵ Respondents alleged agreements where Fred Roesch would purchase Respondents' property at 16220 60th St. E., satisfying Respondents mortgage thereon that Fred would purchase the Rudolphs' property at 16224 60th St. E., and he would make substantial repairs and remodels to Appellant's property at 14712 72nd St. E., Sumner.¹⁶

Respondents' counterclaim described a proposal by Fred Roesch that Respondents and the Rudolphs would cooperate in a boundary line adjustment which would enlarge the size of the Rudolphs' property and diminish the size of Respondents' property.¹⁷ Respondents alleged that upon receipt of a December 26, 2007 purchase and sale agreement from Fred Roesch for the purchase of the Rudolphs' property and a January 8, 2008 purchase and sale agreement from Appellant for the sale of his property to them, Respondents and the Rudolphs contacted counsel to draft addenda to those agreements to address their concerns.¹⁸

¹⁵ CP 38.

¹⁶ CP 38.

¹⁷ CP 38.

¹⁸ CP 39.

Respondents described the progression of subsequent purchase and sale agreements for the three properties.¹⁹ Respondents alleged Appellant and Fred Roesch assured that all of the financing was to be taken care of so the Respondents and the Rudolphs would be living at the 14712 72nd St. E. property with a repairs and remodels completed and that property would be “free and clear” of outstanding mortgages or other financial encumbrances.²⁰

Respondents alleged claim a claim for breach of contract against Appellant for failing to complete the sale of 14712 72nd St. E. and to provide Respondents and the Rudolphs with a “free and clear” residence, and for failing to ensure the obligations against the 16224 and 16220 properties had been satisfied.²¹ Respondents also alleged a claim for breach of contract against Fred Roesch for failing to satisfy the obligations against Respondents’ and the Rudolphs’ properties and for allegedly failing to complete all of the promised remodeling and repair work on 14712 72nd St. E.²² Respondents also alleged a claim against Respondent and Fred Roesch for equity skimming.²³

¹⁹ CP 39-40.

²⁰ CP 40.

²¹ CP 41.

²² CP 41.

²³ CP 41, 42.

On May 27, 2015, Respondent Candy Bohm filed a motion in opposition to Appellant's motion for order to show cause.²⁴ On May 28, 2015, Respondents' counsel filed a declaration that attached excerpts of several of the purchase and sale agreements and addenda mentioned in Respondents' counterclaim.²⁵ Subsequently, on June 23, 2015, Respondent Candy Bohm filed a supplemental declaration that attached the purchase and sale agreements and related addenda mentioned in Respondents' counterclaim.²⁶ Also on June 23, 2015, Geraldine Rudolph filed a declaration in opposition to Appellant's motion for writ of restitution.²⁷ Mrs. Rudolph's declaration also attached documents referenced in Respondent's counterclaim.²⁸

Appellant's motion for order to show cause was heard on June 24, 2015.²⁹ The commissioner found credibility issues were present.³⁰ The commissioner ruled that he did not have jurisdiction to consider Respondents' counterclaims and therefore denied Appellant's motion.³¹ The commissioner also found possession was undetermined at that point.³²

²⁴ CP 45-48.

²⁵ CP 49-76.

²⁶ CP 110-179.

²⁷ CP 180-211.

²⁸ *Ibid.*

²⁹ VRP 062415, p. 1-14.

³⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 8.

³¹ *Id.*, p. 11.

³² *Id.*, p. 12; CP 273.

The commissioner ordered the parties to proceed to trial on the issue of possession.³³ Respondents filed a jury demand.³⁴

On July 7, 2015, Appellant filed a motion for partial summary judgment to dismiss Respondents' counterclaims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and because third party claims are not permitted in a residential unlawful detainer.³⁵

On July 9, 2015, Respondents filed a motion to intervene and for joinder of parties and claims.³⁶ Therein, Respondents sought an order allowing Respondent Candy Bohm's mother, Geraldine Rudolph, to intervene as a party defendant and third party plaintiff, and to add Fred Roesch as a third party defendant.³⁷ On July 17, 2015, the trial court denied Respondent's motion to intervene and ordered the hearing on Appellant's motion for partial summary judgment to be heard on the first day of trial, August 17, 2015.³⁸

On July 20, 2015, Appellant filed his ER 904 disclosures which consisted of the following four documents: the declaration of Respondent Candy Bohm in support of motion and declaration for temporary orders in Pierce County Cause No. 13-3-00880-6, the strict reply declaration of

³³ CP 273.

³⁴ CP 275-76

³⁵ CP 280-92.

³⁶ CP 320-23.

³⁷ *Ibid.*

³⁸ CP 411-12.

Candy Bohm in Pierce County Cause No. 13-3-00880-6, the November 1, 2008 rental agreement for the property at 14712 72nd St. E., in Sumner between Appellant and Respondents, and the letter to Fred Roesch from Candy Bohm re improvement as subject rental property.³⁹

Respondents filed their ER 904 disclosures on July 22, 2015.⁴⁰ Respondents listed 29 documents.⁴¹ Included therein were expired purchase and sale agreements and addenda for 14712 72nd St. E., Sumner, expired purchase and sale agreements and addenda for 16220 and 16224 E. 60th E., Sumner, HUD settlement statements for the close of sale of 16224 60th E. in April 2009, a copy of a cashier's check for \$258,389.43, dated April 22, 2009, from Hillard Rudolph to Fred Roesch, a draft of a real estate contract for the property at 16224 E. 60th St. E. from Respondents to Fred Roesch, a reverse mortgage statement to the Rudolphs for 16224 E, copies of checks from Respondent Candy Bohm to Fred Roesch, and a commission disbursement form dated April 10, 2009 for Appellant's realtor, John Troupe.⁴²

On August 3, 2015, Appellant filed objections to Respondents' ER 904 disclosures.⁴³ Appellant objected to 28 of 29 of Respondents'

³⁹ *Ibid.*

⁴⁰ CP 421-25.

⁴¹ *Ibid.*

⁴² *Id.*

⁴³ CP 426-435.

proposed exhibits on the ground of lack of subject matter jurisdiction. “*Irrelevant-ER 402. The court in an unlawful detainer lacks subject matter jurisdiction to consider any matter other than the primary issue of possession of the leased premises, plus incidental issues such as restitution and rent, or damages.*”⁴⁴

On August 10, 2015, Appellant filed his motion in limine.⁴⁵ Therein, Appellant again objected to Respondents proposed exhibits. Regarding Respondents’ proposed Exhibit 7, the January 30, 2008 real estate purchase and sale agreement (REPSA) from Appellant to Respondents regarding 14712 72nd St. E. Appellant objected to that exhibit on the ground that it was irrelevant, having expired as of September 27, 2008, after the extended date for closing passed.⁴⁶ Appellant also argued Respondents’ proposed Exhibit 7 was barred by the six-year statute of limitations.⁴⁷

Appellant objected to Respondents’ Exhibit 9, the October 15, 2008 REPSA from Appellant to Respondents regarding 14712 72nd St. E. as irrelevant, as it failed to close by the stated closing dates.⁴⁸ Appellant objected to Respondents’ proposed Exhibit 10, a purported addendum to

⁴⁴ *Ibid.*

⁴⁵ CP 463-484.

⁴⁶ CP 465.

⁴⁷ CP 466.

⁴⁸ CP 467.

Exhibit 9, as hearsay, as it was undated, unsigned, and unsworn.⁴⁹

Appellant also objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 10 as irrelevant, as the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider any matter other than the primary issue of possession of the property, plus incidental issues such as restitution, rent or damages⁵⁰.

Appellant also objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 11, a purported addendum to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 7, as hearsay, as it was undated, unsigned and unsworn.

Appellant also objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 12, a REPSA dated January 30, 2008, from Fred Roesch to the Rudolchs regarding 16224 60th St. E.⁵¹ Appellant objected to that exhibit on the ground it was irrelevant, as the exhibit did not relate to possession of the property in question in this case, and the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it in a residential unlawful detainer.⁵²

Appellant also objected on the grounds of irrelevancy to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 13, a REPSA dated November 28, 2008 from Fred Roesch to the Rudolchs regarding 16224 60th St. E., as that

⁴⁹ CP 468.

⁵⁰ *Ibid.*

⁵¹ CP 469.

⁵² *Ibid.*

transaction merged into the deed conveying that property to Fred Roesch.⁵³

Appellant also objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 14, dated April 17, 2009, and proposed Exhibit 15, HUD-1 settlement statements for the Rudolphs' sale of 16224 60th St. E. to Fred Roesch. Appellant objected to those two proposed exhibits as lacking authentication, hearsay, and as they were not related to possession of the property in question in this case, the court lack subject matter to consider those two exhibits.⁵⁴

Appellant objected to Respondents proposed Exhibit No. 16, a copy of a cashier's check, dated April 22, 2009, from Hillard Rudolph to Fred Roesch in the amount of \$258,389.43, representing the net sale proceeds of 16224 60th St. E.⁵⁵ Appellant object to that exhibit as hearsay, and as it was not related to possession of the property in question in this case, the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁵⁶

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 17, a REPSA dated February 7, 2008 from Fred Roesch to Respondents for the purchase of 16220 60th St. E.⁵⁷ Appellant objected to that exhibit on the ground that

⁵³ CP 469.

⁵⁴ CP 470.

⁵⁵ CP 470-71.

⁵⁶ *Ibid.*

⁵⁷ CP 471.

by its terms, the sole remedy to Respondents as the sellers was forfeiture to them of the \$2,000 earnest money given by Fred Roesch in that transaction.⁵⁸ Appellant therefore argued the exhibit was irrelevant and the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁵⁹

Appellant also attacked as hearsay and irrelevant Respondents' proposed Exhibit 18, an undated, unsigned, and unsworn copy of a real estate contract between Fred Roesch and Respondents for the purchase of 16220 60th St. E.⁶⁰ Appellant object to that exhibit as hearsay, and as the contract was not related to possession of the property in question in this case, the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁶¹

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 19, a reverse mortgage statement addressed to the Rudolphs, dated December 31, 2007, regarding their property at 16224 60th St. E.⁶² Appellant objected to the exhibit as hearsay, and as it was not related to possession of the real property in question in this case, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁶³

⁵⁸ *Ibid.*

⁵⁹ *Id.*

⁶⁰ CP 472.

⁶¹ *Ibid.*

⁶² *Id.*

⁶³ *Id.*

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 20, a title commitment dated February 27, 2008, from Fidelity National Title addressed to John Troupe regarding 16224 60th St. E.⁶⁴ Appellant objected to that exhibit as hearsay and as it was not related to possession of the real property in question in this case, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁶⁵

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 22, a letter dated February 4, 2008 from Respondent Candy Bohm to John Troupe.⁶⁶ Appellant objected to that exhibit as hearsay and as it was not related to possession of the real property in question in this case, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁶⁷

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibits 23 and 24, undated, unsigned and unsworn drafts of an addendum to the REPSA dated January 8, 2008 (EX 7).⁶⁸ Appellant objected to those exhibits as hearsay and as they were not related to possession of the real property in question in this case, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider them.⁶⁹

⁶⁴ CP 473.

⁶⁵ *Ibid.*

⁶⁶ *Id.*

⁶⁷ *Id.*

⁶⁸ CP 473-74.

⁶⁹ *Ibid.*

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibits 25 and 26, undated, unsigned and unsworn drafts of an addendum to the REPSA dated December 26, 2007.⁷⁰ Appellant objected to those exhibits as hearsay and as they were not related to possession of the real property in question in this case, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider them.⁷¹

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 27, a copy of an unsigned letter dated February 20, 2008, purportedly from John Troupe to Countrywide Home Loans regarding 16220 60th St. E.⁷² Appellant objected to that exhibit as hearsay and as it was not related to possession of the real property in question in this case, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.⁷³

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 28, an uncertified copy of a separation agreement in Pierce County Cause No. 13-3-00880-6.⁷⁴ Appellant objected to that exhibit as hearsay.⁷⁵

Appellant objected to Respondents' proposed Exhibit 29, copies of checks written by Respondents to Fred Roesch in 2009, 2010 and 2011.⁷⁶ Appellant objected to that exhibit as irrelevant.⁷⁷

⁷⁰ CP 474.

⁷¹ *Ibid.*

⁷² CP 474-75.

⁷³ *Ibid.*

⁷⁴ CP 475.

⁷⁵ *Ibid.*

Appellant's motion for summary judgment was heard on August 17, 2015, the morning of trial.⁷⁸ The court dismissed Respondents' counterclaims.⁷⁹

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