FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2016 APR 14 AM 11:55
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY Cm
DEPUTY

Court of Appeals No. 48083-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

MICHAEL L. ROESCH,
Appellant,

v.

CARL BOHM and CANDY BOHM,
Respondents.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF CARL BOHM and CANDY BOHM

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County,
Cause No. 15-2-07406-2
The Honorable Philip K. Sorensen, Presiding Judge

KLAUS O. SNYDER,
WSBA No. 16195
SNYDER LAW FIRM, LLC
16719 110th Ave. E., Ste. C
PUYALLUP, WA 98374
(253) 863-2889
Fax (253) 863-1483

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Appellant Roesch mischaracterizes the issues on appeal and misstates the standard of review applicable to the admission of the evidence of the purchase and sale agreements.

The arguments made by Michael Roesch in his Opening Brief are

⁷³ CP 1121-1129.

⁷⁴ CP 1139-1147.

⁷⁵ CP 1155-1162.

⁷⁶ CP 1201-1207.

⁷⁷ CP 1219-1220.

⁷⁸ CP 1217-1218.

the same arguments, in some places verbatim,⁷⁹ that he has been making since the end of the trial. The primary “error” Mr. Roesch complains of is the trial court admitting numerous exhibits relating to the agreements between the Bohms, Rudolphs, and Roesches to exchange their real estate properties.⁸⁰ Mr. Roesch argues that this “error” manifested itself in numerous ways throughout the trial and gives rise to the issues he raises on appeal: the trial court erroneously instructed the jury on the Bohms’ defense to the unlawful detainer claim⁸¹; the trial court “exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction” by allowing the Bohms to “litigate a civil claim...in an unlawful detainer” action⁸²; the trial court erred in denying Michael Roesch’s Motion for Judgment under CR 50(a) because all of Ms. Bohm’s exhibits admitted by the trial court did not support Ms. Bohm’s defense⁸³; the trial court erred in denying Michael Roesch’s motion for judgment pursuant to CR 50(b)⁸⁴ because all of Ms. Bohm’s exhibits admitted by the trial court did not support Ms. Bohm’s defense⁸⁵; the trial court erred in denying Mr. Roesch’s motion for new trial or

⁷⁹ Compare: Brief of Appellant, p. 25-28, to Plaintiff’s Motion for New Trial or Reconsideration, p. 4-7, CP 1103-1106; Brief of Appellant, p. 32-34, to Plaintiff’s Motion for Judgment, p. 4-5, CP 1158-1159.

⁸⁰ Brief of Appellant, p. 23-28.

⁸¹ Brief of Appellant, p. 28-31.

⁸² Brief of Appellant, p. 31.

⁸³ Brief of Appellant, p. 32-41.

⁸⁴ CP 1121-1129, 1155-1162.

⁸⁵ Brief of Appellant, p. 41.

reconsideration⁸⁶ because of the “irregularity” of the trial court admitting Ms. Bohm’s “inadmissible” exhibits⁸⁷; the trial court erred in dismissing Michael Roesch’s claims against Ms. Bohm on the basis of the jury verdict because the trial court erred in admitting Ms. Bohm’s exhibits⁸⁸; and the trial court erred in awarding attorney fees to Ms. Bohm because the court committed reversible error in admitting Ms. Bohm’s exhibits at trial.⁸⁹

1. Mr. Roesch misidentifies the purpose for which the evidence was admitted at trial.

Appellant Roesch does not dispute that the trial court dismissed Ms. Bohm’s counterclaims.⁹⁰ However, Appellant Roesch appears to argue that the dismissal of Ms. Bohm’s counterclaims rendered the evidence that would have supported the counter claims irrelevant and inadmissible for any other purpose. This is simply incorrect.

All relevant evidence is admissible, except as limited by constitutional requirements, statute, the evidentiary rules, or other rules applicable in Washington courts.⁹¹ To be relevant, evidence must have a tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the

⁸⁶ CP 1100-1108.

⁸⁷ Brief of Appellant, p. 42-43.

⁸⁸ Brief of Appellant, p. 43.

⁸⁹ Brief of Appellant, p. 44.

⁹⁰ Brief of Appellant, p. 17-18, 23.

⁹¹ ER 402.

determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.⁹²

Unlawful detainer actions under RCW 59.18 are special statutory proceedings with the limited purpose of hastening recovery of possession of rental property, and the superior court's jurisdiction in such action is limited to the primary issue of the right of possession, plus incidental issues such as restitution and rent, or damages. Any issue not incident to the right of possession within the specific terms of RCW 59.18 must be raised in an ordinary civil action.⁹³

“In order to protect the summary nature of the unlawful detainer proceedings, other claims, including counterclaims, are generally not allowed...An exception to the general rule is made when the counterclaim, **affirmative equitable defense, or set-off is based on facts which excuse a tenant's breach.**”⁹⁴

The trial court admitted Ms. Bohm's exhibits regarding the purchase and sale agreements for all the properties as evidence of an affirmative equitable defense that excused Ms. Bohm's breach. The trial court denied Ms. Bohm's motion to allow Ms. Rudolph to intervene and

⁹² ER 401.

⁹³ *Phillips v. Hardwick*, 29 Wn. App. 382, 385-86, 628 P.2d 506, 509 (1981).

⁹⁴ *Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985) (emphasis added). See, e.g., *Foisy v. Wyman*, 83 Wn.2d 22, 515 P.2d 160 (1973) (The affirmative defense of breach of implied warranty of habitability goes directly to the issue of rent due and owing); *Income Properties Investment Corp. v. Trefethen*, 155 Wn. 493, 506, 284 P. 782 (1930) (rent cannot be recovered where landlord by his own acts has deprived the lessees of the beneficial use of the property); *Andersonian Investment Co. v. Wade*, 108 Wn. 373, 378-79, 184 P. 327 (1919) (If facts exist which excuse a defendant's breach, the defendant ought to be permitted to show them before ouster).

for her claims against Fred Roesch to be joined in this action,⁹⁵ but the trial court's statements at the July 17, 2015 hearing make clear that the court considered the evidence of the purchase and sale agreements for all three properties to be evidence that Ms. Bohm could introduce to establish an affirmative defense that excused her breach of the rental contract.

During argument on Ms. Bohm's joinder motion the court noted that "the lease has been incorporated into this other agreement and incorporated by reference into some other agreement" and commented that this case was "much more complicated than just simply a landlord tenant."⁹⁶ While counsel for Michael Roesch was arguing in response, the trial court asked counsel, "Doesn't [Ms. Bohm] have an opportunity to provide some sort of excuse for why she didn't pay?"⁹⁷ and "how is [Ms. Bohm] going to present to the Court an excuse for not paying, an excuse for why she's been on this property, an excuse for her circumstance if she's not allowed to explain what she thinks the circumstances were that she was living under?"⁹⁸ In denying Ms. Bohm's motion for intervention and joinder the trial court stated that it was "not foreclosing presenting any

⁹⁵ CP 411-412.

⁹⁶ RP 5.

⁹⁷ RP 8.

⁹⁸ RP 10.

of this evidence [about the purchase and sale agreements] at trial”⁹⁹ and that “I’m not telling you it’s not a relevant defense.”¹⁰⁰

The trial court ultimately granted Michael Roesch’s motion to dismiss the counterclaims but reserved ruling on the issue of the admissibility of the evidence relating to the various purchase and sale agreements.¹⁰¹

The trial court held that exhibit 7, the January 30, 2008, purchase and sale agreement was admissible

to establish a framework of how things were - - how things existed in 2008... we engaged in a contract with them, they engaged in a contract with us, we moved into this property, we agreed to pay them rent, at some point we didn't, that's the extent to which we are going to get into the other properties, that there was a framework that they were operating in.¹⁰²

The court specifically stated that it ruled the [Bohms] are not going to be able to present counterclaims, and that's exactly what I intended to do. I don't intend to foreclose them from offering up some rationale for why they stopped making payments on the property. And you know, I think that means you are going to be stuck with some Purchase and Sale Agreements that are -- we are all going to be stuck with some Purchase and Sale Agreements that include [the 72nd St. property] lease, in addition to whatever was wrapped around the property on 60th.¹⁰³

⁹⁹ RP 17.

¹⁰⁰ RP 20.

¹⁰¹ RP 81-84.

¹⁰² RP 88, 91.

¹⁰³ RP 93.

In discussing the admissibility of the exhibits, the court stated numerous times that “the only issue that I think the jury needs to be concerned about, is was there a lease, was it enforceable, did they have a reason to stop paying? And so, I’m going to give the[Bohms] the opportunity to present some sort of rationale for why that happened”¹⁰⁴ and, “Again I’m going to allow them to provide a basis for why they thought they had the remedy of not paying...I’m not sure exactly how to frame it, other than I’m going to give the[Bohms] the opportunity to explain why it is they thought that they didn’t have to pay.”¹⁰⁵

The trial court’s rulings and statements make crystal clear that the trial court was admitting the evidence of the purchase and sale agreements for purposes of allowing Ms. Bohm to attempt to establish an affirmative equitable defense explaining why she didn’t pay as opposed to admitting the evidence to support a counterclaim. The trial court admitted the evidence of the purchase and sale agreements for the permissible and proper purpose of allowing Ms. Bohm to establish an affirmative equitable defense based on facts that excused her breach.¹⁰⁶ The trial court did not, as Appellant Roesch asserts, admit the evidence for the purpose of allowing Ms. Bohm to argue counterclaims against Michael Roesch.

¹⁰⁴ RP 96-97.

¹⁰⁵ RP 102-103.

2. *Mr. Roesch misidentifies the standard of review applicable to the admission of the evidence.*

Appellant Roesch asserts that this court should review the trial court's decision to admit Ms. Bohm's exhibits de novo because the trial court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction by admitting Ms. Bohm's exhibits. However, as discussed above, the trial court did not exceed its subject matter jurisdiction by admitting the evidence. The trial court admitted evidence of the purchase and sale agreements for the permissible and proper purpose of allowing Ms. Bohm to establish an affirmative equitable defense based on facts that excused her breach.¹⁰⁷

A trial court's decision to exclude or admit evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.¹⁰⁸ The standard of review applicable to the issues raised by Appellant Roesch is whether or not the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the evidence, not a de novo review of whether the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction over the case.

3. *The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of the purchase and sale agreements as evidence of Ms. Bohm's affirmative defense.*

The trial court has considerable discretion to determine if evidence

¹⁰⁶ See *Munden*, 105 Wn.2d at 45, *supra*.

¹⁰⁷ See *Munden*, 105 Wn.2d at 45, *supra*.

¹⁰⁸ *State v. Lord*, 161 Wn.2d 276, 294, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007).

is admissible.¹⁰⁹ A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons.¹¹⁰ An abuse of discretion is found when the trial court adopts a view that no reasonable person would take.¹¹¹ The Court of Appeals may uphold a trial court's evidentiary ruling on any grounds the record supports.¹¹²

“Where reasonable persons could take differing views regarding the propriety of the trial court's actions, the trial court has not abused its discretion.”¹¹³ The trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is “manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.”¹¹⁴

Appellant Roesch has failed to make any argument as to why it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to allow Ms. Bohn to present evidence to support her defense. This is because it was not an abuse of discretion. As recognized in *Munden, supra*, a defendant in an unlawful detainer action may present evidence to establish an equitable affirmative defense based on facts that explain why the defendant breached the lease.

Ms. Bohm's defense was that she never paid any rent because she was supposed to receive title to the 72nd street property free and clear

¹⁰⁹ *State v. Quaaile*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 196, 340 P.3d 213 (2014).

¹¹⁰ *Lord*, 161 Wn.2d at 28384.

¹¹¹ *State v. Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 16 P.3d 626 (2001).

¹¹² *State v. Williams*, 137 Wn.App. 736, 743, 154 P.3d 322 (2007).

¹¹³ *Quaaile*, 182 Wn.2d at 196 (quoting *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)).

¹¹⁴ *Quaaile*, 182 Wn.2d at 196 (quoting *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d

without paying any money. The evidence relating to the purchase and sale agreements explained why Ms. Bohm had that belief and explained how the parties ever came to be in, what Mr. Roesch asserted was a “landlord-tenant relationship”¹¹⁵. It was not an abuse of discretion, therefore, for the trial court to admit evidence of the purchase and sale agreements related to the “land swap” to support Ms. Bohm’s defense.

B. The trial court did not exceed its jurisdiction by instructing the jury on Ms. Bohm’s defense.

Appellant Roesch mischaracterizes the trial court allowing Ms. Bohm to assert an affirmative defense as the trial court allowing Ms. Bohm to assert a counterclaim. As discussed above, a defendant in an unlawful detainer action may assert an affirmative equitable defense based on facts that excuse that defendant’s breach of a lease.¹¹⁶ The trial court took pains to explain repeatedly that it admitted the evidence of the purchase and sale agreements not to allow Ms. Bohm to pursue a counterclaim, but for the permissible and proper purpose of allowing Ms. Bohm to establish an affirmative equitable defense based on facts that excused her breach.

Contrary to Appellant Roesch’s assertions¹¹⁷, the effect of the trial court giving jury instructions numbers 2 and 11 was to permit Ms. Bohm

1239 (1997)).

¹¹⁵ See FN 32, *supra*.

¹¹⁶ *Munden*, 105 Wn.2d 45, 711 P.2d 295.

to raise an affirmative equitable defense, not to assert a counterclaim. The trial court did not exceed its subject matter jurisdiction by instructing the jury on Ms. Bohm's affirmative defense.

"Each party is entitled to have his theory of a case presented to the jury by proper instructions, if there is any evidence to support it, and this right is not affected by the fact that the law is covered in a general way by the instructions given."¹¹⁸

"Whether to give a certain jury instruction is within a trial court's discretion and so is reviewed for abuse of discretion."¹¹⁹

Again, it was not an abuse of the trial court's discretion to allow evidence to be admitted that would support Ms. Bohm's affirmative defense. It was also not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to instruct the jury on Ms. Bohm's affirmative defense. Ms. Bohm had the right to raise a defense and the evidence she offered was relevant to that defense and not otherwise inadmissible.

C. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant Roesch's motions for judgment pursuant to CR 50(a) and (b).

CR 50(a) provides, in pertinent part,

If, during a trial by jury, a party has been fully heard with

¹¹⁷ Brief of Appellant, p. 28-31.

¹¹⁸ *De Koning v. Williams*, 47 Wn.2d 139, 141, 286 P.2d 694, 695-96 (1955).

¹¹⁹ *Fergen v. Sesteró*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 802, 346 P.3d 708, 712 (2015).

respect to an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue, the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law against the party on any claim, counterclaim, cross claim...that cannot under the controlling law be maintained without a favorable finding on that issue.

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